04/09/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 25-0040

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 25-0040

ALL FAMILIES HEALTHCARE; BLUE MOUNTAIN CLINIC; AND HELEN WEEMS, MSN, APRN-FNP, on behalf of themselves, their employees, and their patients,

Plaintiffs and Appellees,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA; MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; and CHARLIE BRERETON, in his official capacity as Director of the Department of Public Health and Human Services,

Defendants and Appellants.

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Defendants-Appellants (collectively the "State") raise the following issues:

- 1. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it preliminarily enjoined House Bill ("HB") 937 and its implementing rules in the Administrative Rules of Montana ("Mont. Admin. R.") 37.106.3101 to 37.106.3114 relating to licensing and regulating abortion clinics, where the district court used the sliding scale test in Stensvad v. Newman Ayers Ranch, Inc., and the Legislature has abrogated that test in MCA § 27-19-201(4)(b)?
- 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion by issuing an overbroad preliminary injunction, where it concluded for Plaintiffs' equal protection claim that strict scrutiny applied to all of HB 937 and Mont. Admin. R. 37.106.3101 to 37.106.3114, and it enjoined them in their entirety, even though most provisions—closely mirroring similar requirements imposed on other types of health care facilities—neither directly regulate abortion procedures nor prohibit classes of licensed providers from performing abortions, and the State suffers irreparable harm whenever any of its laws are enjoined?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves the district court's preliminary injunction of all 2023 Mont. Laws, ch. 492 ("HB 937"), as well as all implementing regulations adopted by the Department of Public Health and Human Services ("DPHHS") and codified

at Mont. Admin. R. 37.106.3101 to 37.106.3114. *See* App. A; Dkt. 68 at 3.<sup>1</sup> The statute and rules relate to the licensure and regulation of abortion clinics. The Governor signed HB 937 into law on May 16, 2023, with an effective date of October 1, 2023. 2023 Mont. Laws ch. 492.

Plaintiffs-Appellees ("Plaintiffs") are two abortion clinics and an abortion provider. *Id.* They filed their original complaint on September 1, 2023, asserting only state constitutional challenges under article II, sections 3, 4, 10, and 17 of the Montana Constitution. Dkt. 1. Plaintiffs simultaneously filed an Application for a Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction. Dkt. 6. They argued that with the impending effective date of October 1, "compliance with [HB 937] is impossible" due to a lack of regulations and alleged uncertainty regarding how the law would apply to them. Dkt. 6 at 2.

On September 27, 2023, the district court granted a temporary restraining order. Dkt. 48. The Court based its TRO on the ground that HB 937 prohibited an abortion clinic from operating without a license, and DPHHS had not yet issued regulations to implement the licensure requirement. Dkt. 48 at 3-4.

On October 18, 2023, the parties stipulated to extend the TRO and vacate the hearing on the preliminary injunction. Dkt. 53. This stipulation extended the TRO

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Dkt." cites are to the docket in District Court. Citations to the Appendix are prefaced with "App."

until 60 days after the effective date of the final rules promulgated to implement HB 937. The Court granted the stipulation. Dkt. 54.

On October 7, 2024, Plaintiffs moved for leave to file a First Amended Complaint, Dkt. 57, which was filed on November 4, 2024. App. H; Dkt. 64. Plaintiffs noted that DPHHS issued proposed rules on July 26, 2024 and accepted comments until August 23, 2024. The First Amended Complaint contained the following six claims: violation of right to privacy under Article II, Section 10; violation of right to equal protection of the laws under Article II, Section 4; violation of due process as void for vagueness under Article II, Section 17; violation of right to seek safety, health and happiness under Article II, Section 3; violation of right to individual dignity under Article II, Section 4; and violation of the Montana Administrative Procedure Act, challenging the rules issued by DPHHS. *Id.* at 34-38.

Also on October 7, 2024, Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction and filed a brief in support. App. B, Dkt. 57; App. C, Dkt. 58. The brief sought a preliminary injunction under the sliding scale in *Alliance for The Wild Rockies v*. *Cottrell*, 632 F.3d 1127, 1131 (9th Cir. 2011). App. C, Dkt. 58 at 9. Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction based on violation of their patients' right to privacy, *id*. at 10-15, equal protection, *id*. at 15-17, and vagueness, *id*. at 17-18. The Motion was supported by declarations from Plaintiff Helen Weems, MSN, APRN-FNP, *id*. at 60; Joey Banks, MD, *id*. at 88; and Jennifer Mayo, MD, *id*. at 126.

On October 29, 2024, the State filed its response to the Plaintiffs' Application for Preliminary Injunction. App. D, Dkt. 62. On November 5, 2024, Plaintiffs filed their Reply. App. E, Dkt. 65.

On November 8, 2024, the district court held a hearing on Plaintiffs' request for preliminary injunction. It heard testimony from Tara Wooten, an experienced administrator at DPHHS; received Exhibits A-H into evidence; and heard oral argument from counsel. App. F (Transcript of Hearing).

On November 15, 2024, the district court issued a preliminary injunction of all provisions of HB 937 and all implementing regulations promulgated by DPHHS, Mont. Admin. R. 37.106.3101 to 37.106.3114. App. A, Dkt. 68 at 3, 29. The district court expressly cited the sliding scale test for a preliminary injunction. Id. at 13 (citing Stensvad v. Newman Ayers Ranch, Inc., 2024 MT 246, ¶¶ 23-29, 418 Mont. 378, 557 P.3d 1240). The district court based its likelihood of success on the merits analysis on the equal protection guarantee in article II, section 4 of the Montana Constitution. App. A; Dkt. 68 at 14, 25. It cited the three-step framework of identifying similarly situated classes, determining the appropriate level of scrutiny to apply, and applying that scrutiny. *Id.* at 14-16. The Court described the change in law in HB 937 as requiring "abortion clinics" to be licensed, when they previously were not regulated nor subject to licensure. Id. at 16. The Court described the similarly situated groups as licensed healthcare providers who "prescribe

mifepristone or misoprostol, or who perform dilation & evacuation or vacuum aspiration procedures for the purpose of managing spontaneous miscarriages" and those who "prescribe the same drugs and perform the same procedures, but with the purpose of inducing an abortion." *Id.* at 17. Critically, the Court then held that strict scrutiny applied to this classification. *Id.* at 19. Finally, the Court concluded that the law and regulations do not survive strict scrutiny because they do not also apply "to the offices of private doctors and other healthcare professionals where they provide the same procedures for miscarriage management." *Id.* at 22.

The district court also rejected the State's argument that "the Court must review the statute and the regulations individually." *Id.* The Court found irreparable injury from the unequal treatment of similarly situated classes. *Id.* at 26. And it also found that expiration of the TRO is likely to inhibit access to abortion. *Id.* Finally, the Court found the last two factors—balance of the equities and public interest—merge, and the State's interest in enforcing its law is "heavily mitigated when there is a strong showing that the statute infringes on a fundamental right, because 'the government suffers no harm from an injunction that merely ends unconstitutional practices." *Id.* at 27.

The State timely appealed the grant of the preliminary injunction. Dkt. 72.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Governor signed HB 937 into law on May 16, 2023, and it took effect on October 1, 2023. 2023 Mont. Laws ch. 492. HB 937 added a new Part 9 to Chapter 20, Title 50 of the MCA, codified at §§ 50-20-901 to 50-20-904. These sections provide that an abortion clinic is subject to licensure before it may operate or advertise. MCA § 50-20-902(1). That statute also provides items that DPHHS shall include in the application for licensure. MCA § 50-20-902(2). Section 3 of HB 937 directs DPHHS to adopt regulations and license and regulate abortion clinics consistent with those regulations. MCA § 50-20-903. It provides various topics for regulation, including sanitation, staff qualifications, emergency equipment, and medical records. MCA § 50-20-903(2). Section 4 of HB 937 provides that DPHHS shall inspect abortion clinics at least once per year and conduct additional investigations "as needed" to respond to complaints. MCA § 50-20-904. Finally, Section 5 of HB 937 amended MCA § 50-5-101(26)(a) to include "abortion clinics" as defined in § 50-20-901 in the statutory definition of a "health care facility" for purposes of Parts 1 through 3 of Chapter 5 of Title 50, Health and Safety.

Plaintiffs-Appellees ("Plaintiffs") are All Families Healthcare, which provides abortions in this state and has been in operation since 2018; Blue Mountain Clinic, which also provides abortions in this state and has been in operation since 1977; and Helen Weems, MSN, APRN-FNP, who is the owner and sole clinician of

All Families Healthcare. App. A, Dkt. 68 at 5-6. Both All Families Healthcare and Blue Mountain Clinic perform more than five abortions per year, and therefore are subject to licensing and regulation under HB 937. App. A, Dkt. 68 at 5-6.

Defendants-Appellants (collectively the "State") are the State of Montana, the Montana Department of Public Health and Human Services ("DPHHS"), and Charles T. Brereton, in his official capacity as Director of DPHHS. App. A, Dkt. 68 at 3.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's grant or denial of a preliminary injunction "for manifest abuse of discretion." *Netzer Law Office, P.C. v. State by and Through Knudsen*, 2022 MT 234, ¶ 9, 410 Mont. 513, 520 P.3d 335; *see also Stensvad*, ¶ 8. "A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily, without employment of conscientious judgment, or in excess the bounds of reason, resulting in a substantial injustice." *Id.* ; *see also Planned Parenthood of Mont. v. State (Planned Parenthood I)*, 2022 MT 157, ¶ 5, 409 Mont. 378, 515 P.3d 301. "If the district court's decision on a preliminary injunction was based upon legal conclusions, [this Court] will review those conclusions [for correctness]." *Montanans Against Irresponsible Densification, LLC v. State (MAID)*, 2024 MT 200, ¶ 8, 418 Mont. 78, 555 P.3d 759.

"A statute is 'presumed constitutional unless it conflicts with the Montana Constitution, in the judgement [sic] of the [C]ourt, beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Akhmedli, 2023 MT 120, ¶ 3, 412 Mont. 538, 531 P.3d 562 (quoting Mont. Indep. Living Project v. DOT, 2019 MT 298, ¶ 14, 398 Mont. 204, 454 P.3d 1216) (second alteration in original). Every possible presumption must be indulged in favor of the constitutionality of a legislative act. Powell v. State Comp. Ins. Fund, 2000 MT 321, ¶ 13, 302 Mont. 518, 15 P.3d 877 (citations omitted). The party challenging a statute bears the burden of proving that it is unconstitutional. Id. (citations omitted).

When interpreting constitutional provisions, this Court applies ordinary rules of statutory construction. *See Brown v. Gianforte*, 2021 MT 149, ¶ 33, 404 Mont. 269, 488 P.3d 548. It first looks at the plain meaning of the constitutional text. *Nelson v. City of Billings*, 2018 MT 36, ¶ 14, 390 Mont. 290, 412 P.3d 1058. In doing so, the Court construes the constitutional text as a whole, avoiding isolating specific terms from the context in which they appear. *See Mont. Sports Shooting Ass'n v. State*, 2008 MT 190, ¶ 11, 344 Mont. 1, 185 P.3d 1003.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This appeal raises important issues regarding the test for a preliminary injunction and the scope of the right to privacy as applied to pre-viability abortions. "A preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy never awarded as of right." *MAID*, ¶ 10 (quoting *Winter v. NRDC, Inc.*, 555 U.S. 7, 24 (2008)). Moreover, not

"every restriction on" abortion "necessarily impermissibly infringe[s] on the right to privacy." *Weems v. State (Weems II)*, 2023 MT 82, ¶ 38, 412 Mont. 132, 529 P.3d 798. Here, the district court made compounding errors that contravened these foundational principles.

First, the district court erroneously used the sliding scale test when granting the preliminary injunction. However, the Legislature has amended the preliminary injunction statute to make clear that Montana courts must consider each of the preliminary injunction factors independently and cannot use a sliding scale. MCA § 27-19-201(4)(b).

Second, the district court issued a grossly overbroad injunction that covered *all* of HB 937 and its implementing regulations, Mont. Admin. R. 37.106.3101 to 37.106.3114. The district court did not analyze whether the specific statutory and regulatory provisions Plaintiffs challenged directly regulate pre-viability abortion procedures or prohibit a category of licensed providers from performing abortions. Instead, the district court erroneously concluded that strict scrutiny applies to any different or additional regulation of abortion providers.<sup>2</sup>

Having found a constitutional violation based on a grossly overbroad application of strict scrutiny, the district court largely based irreparable injury on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In doing so the District Court's classification disregarded the fact that many of the regulatory requirements at issue here are identical, or substantially similar to, requirements already imposed on other healthcare facilities.

fact that Plaintiffs will be required under HB 937 to seek and obtain a license and comply with the rules issued by DPHHS for abortion clinics. App. A, Dkt. 68 at 25-26. It found that this "disparate treatment" was per se irreparable harm under equal protection. *Id.* The district court then similarly based its analysis of the balance of the equities and public policy (third and fourth injunction factors) on its conclusion that HB 937 and its implementing rules "inflict[] constitutional injury on" Plaintiffs. *Id.* at 27. This failed to give proper weight to the irreparable injury that the State suffers when its democratically enacted laws are enjoined. *See Maryland v. King*, 567 U.S. 1301, 1301 (2012) (Roberts, C.J., in chambers).

In sum, the district court made multiple, compounding errors that culminated in issuing a blanket injunction of HB 937 and all implementing regulations. This Court must reverse and remand.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The district court abused its discretion by using the sliding scale test for its preliminary injunction order, in contravention of MCA § 27-19-201.

This Court should vacate the preliminary injunction and remand to the district court to apply the correct standard codified in MCA § 27-19-201. After amendment earlier this year to clarify the Legislature's intent, that statute requires movants to establish each of the four elements for a preliminary injunction before a district court may grant relief. MCA § 27-19-201(1), (4)(b). And as explained below, this change

in the law applies to the preliminary injunction in this case, even if such application could be considered retroactive. It is therefore appropriate for this Court to remand to the district court to conduct the required analysis. *See, e.g., Utah v. Su,* 109 F.4th 313, 320 (5th Cir. 2024) (remanding after change in law for district court to evaluate question first and stating "appellate courts generally sit as courts 'of review, not first view'").<sup>3</sup>

## A. The State preserved the issue by objecting to the sliding scale test in the district court.

Over the State's opposition, the district court's Order (Dkt. 68 at 13) expressly cited the "sliding scale approach" articulated by the Ninth Circuit in *Alliance for the Wild Rockies*, 632 F.3d 1127, and adopted by this Court in *Stensvad v. Newman Ayers Ranch, Inc.*, 2024 MT 246, ¶ 23-29, 418 Mont. 378, 557 P.3d 1240. Critically, under that approach, "the applicant ... need not strictly show an absolute likelihood of success on the merits, provided they make a sufficiently strong showing that the equities favor an injunction." App. A; Dkt. 68 at 13. Instead, raising "serious questions going to the merits" can be sufficient to meet the test's first element. *Id.* 

The issue of a sliding scale was preserved below. The State opposed any sliding scale approach in its Opposition to Preliminary Injunction. App. D, Dkt. 62

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Vacating and remanding is also required based on the District Court's erroneous application of strict scrutiny and overbroad injunction. *See* Part II, *infra*.

at 4 n.1.<sup>4</sup> In reply, Plaintiffs cited to *Stensvad* and expressly argued that they had "certainly demonstrat[ed] 'serious questions' going to the merits." App. E, Dkt. 65 at 4. Ultimately, the district court followed the *Stensvad* sliding scale test over the State's objection. App. A; Dkt. 68 at 13.

# B. The Legislature's 2025 amendment has abrogated or clarified that Montana law prohibits the sliding scale test.

The district court's Order does not comply with Montana law because the Legislature has abrogated the sliding scale test. On March 25, 2025, the Governor signed HB 409, which contained express legislative findings that "the use of the serious questions test or any other sliding scale test is contrary to the legislative intent expressed in section 27-19-201." 2025 Mont. Laws ch. 20.

The Legislature also amended § 27-19-201 to add a new subsection 4(b) that states, "[w]hen conducting the preliminary injunction analysis, the court shall examine the four criteria in subsection (1) independently. The court may not use a sliding scale test, the serious questions test, flexible interplay, or another federal circuit modification to the criteria." That express language abrogates this Court's prior preliminary injunction standard interpretation in *Stensvad. See State v. Daniels*,

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State's Opposition was filed the same day as *Stensvad* was issued by this Court. A few weeks before *Stensvad*, this Court cited to the *Alliance for the Wild Rockies* sliding scale test in *Planned Parenthood of Mont. v. State (Planned Parenthood IV)*, 2024 MT 228, ¶ 13, 418 Mont. 253, 557 P.3d 440, and *Planned Parenthood of Mont. v. State (Planned Parenthood III)*, 2024 MT 227, ¶ 31, 418 Mont. 226, 557 P.3d 471.

2011 MT 278, ¶ 14, 362 Mont. 426, 265 P.3d 623 (recognizing that enactment of legislation "effectively abrogated" prior cases on "the burden of proof for the defense of justifiable use of force").

Here, the State objected to the sliding scale test and its appeal of the preliminary injunction was pending when the 2025 amendment to § 27-19-201 took effect. It is therefore appropriate to apply this amendment and vacate the preliminary injunction that is based on an incorrect legal standard. See City of Helena v. Cmty. of Rimini, 2017 MT 145, ¶ 17, 388 Mont. 1, 397 P.3d 1 ("[W]e have repeatedly held that '[a]lthough the general rule of law is that a statute is not to be applied retroactively, an exception to that rule is a change in a law that is merely procedural rather than substantive." (citations omitted)). And the City of Helena court explained that "chang[ing] the burden of proof ... create[s] a procedural change." Id. ¶ 18. That holds true here where the Legislature has made clear in § 27-19-201(4)(b) what the burden of proof is to obtain a preliminary injunction. Similarly, in Dempsey v. Allstate Insurance Co., this Court held that a judicial decision applied retroactively to all non-final civil cases. 2004 MT 391, ¶ 10, 325 Mont. 207, 104 P.3d 483. The Court stated that "limiting a rule of law to its prospective application creates an arbitrary distinction between litigants based merely on the timing of their claims. Interests of fairness are not served by drawing such a line, nor are interests of finality." *Id.*  $\P$  28.<sup>5</sup>

# C. Montana law requires a movant to "establish [] the likelihood of each element" independently for a preliminary injunction.

Whether interpreting the 2025 amendment as abrogating *Stensvad*, or clarifying the law since 2023, this Court must now adopt the straightforward interpretation of § 27-19-201 that is consistent with the Fourth and Tenth Circuits' approaches, and that was advocated by Justice Rice in his special concurrence in *Stensvad*.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the alternative, this Court should hold the 2025 amendment also clarified that § 27-19-201 has not permitted a sliding scale test for a preliminary injunction since 2003. There is a well-established canon of construction that an amendment may "clarif[y] the meaning of the prior language, to the extent the former provision was ambiguous and leading to conflicting results in the courts." *McCoy v. Chase Manhattan Bank, USA*, 654 F.3d 971, 974 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing 1A Norman J. Singer & J.D. Shambie Singer, *Sutherland Statutes and Statutory Construction*, § 22.31 (7th ed. 2011)).

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