IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA  
No. DA 25-0040

---

ALL FAMILIES HEALTHCARE; BLUE MOUNTAIN CLINIC; and HELEN WEEMS, MSN, APRN-FNP, on behalf of themselves, their employees, and their patients,

*Plaintiffs and Appellees,*

v.

STATE OF MONTANA; MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; and CHARLIE BRERETON, in his official capacity as Director of the Department of Public Health and Human Services,

*Defendants and Appellants.*

---

On appeal from the Montana First Judicial district court, Lewis and Clark County Cause No. DDV 23–592, the Honorable Christopher Abbott, Presiding

---

**APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF**

---

APPEARANCES:

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Scheme is the latest of the State’s many efforts to violate Montanans’ fundamental rights to privacy and equal protection by singling out abortion for unique, additional, and medically unnecessary restrictions, despite *no* threat to patient health and safety.

Binding Montana precedent squarely controls this case. This newest set of restrictions follows the same playbook as the numerous other abortion laws Montana

courts have enjoined in recent years, and indeed conflicts with several preliminary or permanent injunctions. And it mirrors targeted restrictions on abortion provider (“TRAP”) laws several states passed a decade ago that courts likewise held unconstitutional. *E.g.*, *Hodes & Nauser v. Stanek*, 318 Kan. 995, 551 P.3d 62 (2024) (holding 2011 Kansas abortion facility licensing statutes and regulations violated state constitutional right to abortion); *Whole Woman’s Health*, 579 U.S. at 624; *Doe v. State*, No. 62-CV-19-3868, 2022 WL 2662998, at \*30-34 (Minn. Dist. Ct. July 11, 2022) (holding law requiring abortion after first trimester be provided in hospital or “abortion facility” violated fundamental rights to privacy and equal protection).

The district court correctly held that the Plaintiff Providers established a likelihood of success on each of the four preliminary injunction factors. It held the Scheme likely discriminates based on how a person exercises their fundamental rights to privacy and procreative autonomy: interfering with patients seeking abortion care but not those seeking identical miscarriage care, or other pregnancy-related care, including for continued pregnancy and childbirth. Order 20:7-16 (App. A). Accordingly, strict scrutiny applied, and the Scheme likely failed that exacting test. *Id.* 21:10-22:6. Based on its conclusion that the “entire edifice” of the Scheme was likely unconstitutional, the court tailored its remedy to that constitutional violation by entering a preliminary injunction against the Scheme as a whole. *Id.* 25:1-4.

The State does not defend the Scheme under strict scrutiny. Nor could it: the Scheme is not narrowly tailored to avert any “medically-acknowledged *bona fide* health risk.” *Weems II*, ¶¶ 44-45. Indeed, the Scheme fails to satisfy even rational basis review, as there is no rational reason to treat abortion and miscarriage care differently. *See id.* ¶ 47.

Instead, the State misrepresents how Montana currently regulates health care and rehashes arguments this Court has rejected time and again, to try to distinguish this case from *Armstrong v. State*, 1999 MT 261, 296 Mont. 361, 989 P.2d 364, and the *seven* abortion cases that have since reaffirmed and applied that precedent.<sup>2</sup>

This case is also an exceptionally poor vehicle to apply a 2025 amendment to the preliminary injunction statute, which took effect four months after the preliminary injunction entered in this case. But even if that amendment applied here, it would not change the outcome as the district court held the Plaintiff Providers

---

<sup>2</sup> *PPMT 2021 Laws PI*, ¶¶ 1, 3 (affirming preliminary injunction of 20-week abortion ban, omnibus medication abortion restrictions that included a telehealth ban, and mandatory ultrasound); *Planned Parenthood of Mont. v. State*, 2025 MT 120, ¶ 128, 2025 WL 1618896 (“*PPMT 2021 Laws SJ*”) (holding those laws unconstitutional); *Planned Parenthood of Mont. v. State*, 2024 MT 227, ¶¶ 5-6, 42, 418 Mont. 226, 557 P.3d 471 (“*PPMT Telehealth and D&E Ban*”) (affirming preliminary injunction of telehealth abortion ban and ban on common method of second-trimester abortion); *Planned Parenthood of Mont. v. State*, 2024 MT 228, ¶¶ 1-3, 418 Mont. 253, 557 P.3d 440 (“*PPMT Medicaid*”) (affirming preliminary injunction of DPHHS rules and statutes that restrict Medicaid coverage of abortion); *PPMT Parental Consent*, ¶ 1 (holding unconstitutional parental consent law for abortion); *Weems I*, ¶ 1 (affirming preliminary injunction of law restricting provision of abortion to only physicians and physician assistants); *Weems II*, ¶ 51 (holding that law unconstitutional).

established a “likelihood of success” on *each* of the four preliminary injunction factors as the amended statute now requires.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The District Court Did Not Manifestly Abuse Its Discretion in Its Application of the Preliminary Injunction Standard.**

The district court entered its preliminary injunction on November 15, 2024, just weeks after this Court’s *Stensvad* decision held that an applicant must make at least a “sufficient showing” of each of the four preliminary injunction factors, based on the “serious questions” and “sliding scale” approach. *Stensvad*, ¶¶ 25-29. But, nowhere in the district court’s assessment of the merits did it mention “serious questions” or “sliding scale.” *See* Order 14:9-25:4 (App. A). Instead, the court went beyond what *Stensvad* required, holding Plaintiffs established a “likelihood” on each of the preliminary injunction factors, just as the State argues it should have. *Id.* 25:1-3, 26:23-24, 28:7-13.

On March 25, 2025, the 2025 Amendment to the preliminary injunction statute took effect. The amended statute continues to require a court to assess the four preliminary injunction factors independently but adds that a court “may not use a sliding scale test, the serious questions test, flexible interplay, or another federal circuit modification to the criteria.” H.B. 409, 69th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Mont. 2025), codified at § 27-19-201(4)(b), MCA.

For the first time on appeal, the State argues the district court abused its discretion by not adhering to the amended preliminary injunction statute, which took effect four months after the court entered its order in this case. That amendment has no application here. Even if it did, it would not change the outcome, because the district court did not rely on the “serious questions” or “sliding scale” test.

**A. The District Court Held Plaintiffs Established the Likelihood of Each of the Preliminary Injunction Factors.**

The district court did not manifestly abuse its discretion in entering the preliminary injunction, because it held the Providers established a “likelihood” on each of the four preliminary injunction factors.

In its order, the district court described the “serious questions” and “sliding scale” test adopted in *Stensvad* just weeks before. Order 13:3-18 (App. A). It is perfectly appropriate, and indeed, essential, for a district court to articulate and comply with this Court’s binding precedent. But the district court went *beyond* the floor set by *Stensvad* to find not a “sufficient showing” of “serious questions,” but that the Plaintiff Providers established a “likelihood” of each preliminary injunction factor, based on the extensive evidence they presented.

First, the district court held the Providers were “*likely to succeed* in showing that House Bill 937 violates their and their patients’ right to equal protection of the laws under Mont. Const. art. II, § 4.” *Id.* 28:7-9 (emphasis added); *see also e.g., id.* 25:2-3 (finding Providers demonstrated that “they will *likely succeed* on the merits

of their equal protection claim”) (emphasis added). The court went step-by-step through the likelihood-of-success analysis, finding that the Providers were “likely” to succeed in showing that the Scheme discriminated against similarly situated patients, *id.* 3:17-19; and next, that they were “likely” to succeed in showing that the classification must be reviewed under strict scrutiny, *id.* 20:14-16. Then, “the burden shifts to the State to justify the statute by showing the challenged classification is necessary to promote a compelling state interest.” *Id.* 21:10-12 (citing *PPMT Parental Consent*, ¶ 32). The State “did not argue whether HB 937 or its implementing regulations survive strict scrutiny,” but the court engaged in that inquiry anyway. *Id.* 21:17-18. It concluded that although there may be a compelling interest in protecting the health and safety of pregnant people, the Scheme was “not narrowly tailored” to advance that interest. *Id.* 21:17-22:6.

Throughout its analysis, the district court relied on multiple decisions by this Court—from *Armstrong* in 1999 through this Court’s three abortion cases in 2024. “Indeed,” the district court concluded, “much or most of the foregoing analysis is compelled by binding precedent of the Montana Supreme Court in its cases from the last several years applying *Armstrong* in the context of permanent and preliminary injunctions.” *Id.* 28:13-16. Just last week, this Court issued yet another decision affirming a trial court ruling holding a series of abortion restrictions violated

individuals' fundamental rights to privacy and/or equal protection. *PPMT 2021 Laws SJ*, ¶ 128.

Nonetheless, the State complains that, in a footnote, the district court noted that the CI-128 “inform[ed] the Court’s assessment of the Providers’ showing of a likelihood of success.” *Id.* 5 n.4. But the State does not argue the court manifestly abused its discretion for referencing CI-128, nor could it. The court was clear that CI-128 was “not yet part of the Constitution” and would not be until July 1, 2025. *Id.* Despite the reference to CI-128, the court’s likelihood-of-success analysis was thoroughly grounded in the Montana Constitution and this Court’s binding precedent.

Second, the district court held the Providers demonstrated “irreparable harm is *likely* to result absent an injunction.” *Id.* 26:23-24 (emphasis added). Indeed, the court went further, stating, “without judicial intervention, Providers and their patients *will* suffer irreparable harm.” *Id.* 3:20-21 (emphasis added). The court emphasized, “Providers must show ‘irreparable injury is *likely*, not merely speculative, in the absence of an injunction.’” *Id.* 13:9-10 (emphasis added) (quoting *Montanans Against Irresponsible Densification, LLC v. State*, 2024 MT 200, ¶ 15, 418 Mont. 78, 555 P.3d 759 (“*MAID*”), the case the State says the 2025 Amendment codified, Appellants’ Br. 14 n.5 & 15).

Third and fourth, the district court assessed “the final two factors”—“the balance of equities and public interest.” *Id.* 27:2-3. It explained that these two factors are “very similar”: the balance of the equities addresses the impact on the parties, while the public interest focuses on the impact on non-parties. *Id.* 27:2-4. Accordingly, when an injunction is sought against the government, these elements are considered together. *Id.* 27:6-8. *E.g.*, *Winter v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc.*, 555 U.S. 7, 26-33 (2008); App. F, 72:20-21 (counsel for the State noting at the preliminary injunction hearing that the balance of the equities and the public interest “obviously . . . meld together”). As to the balance of equities, as this Court has explained, and the district court echoed, any harm to the State from an injunction is “heavily mitigated when there is a strong showing that the statute infringes on a fundamental right,” as “the government suffers no harm from an injunction that merely ends unconstitutional practices.” Order 27:20-25 (quoting *PPMT Telehealth and D&E Ban*, ¶ 36) (cleaned up). Along the same lines, “it is always in the public interest” to prevent the violation of constitutional rights. *PPMT Telehealth and D&E Ban*, ¶ 37. Accordingly, the court concluded, the Providers independently satisfied both factors: “Providers have further demonstrated . . . that the balance of equities and public interest favor an injunction.” Order 28:12-13 (App. A).

## **B. The 2025 Amendment to the Preliminary Injunction Statute Has No Application Here.**

For the first time on appeal, the State argues that the 2025 Amendment, which took effect more than four months *after* the court entered the preliminary injunction here, abrogates that order. But to put the 2025 Amendment at issue in this case, the State should have dismissed its appeal and moved for reconsideration of the district court's order, to give that court the first opportunity to consider this wholly new argument.

In any event, although, as set out above, application of the 2025 Amendment would not change the outcome of this appeal, it does not apply here. First, this Court's review of a preliminary injunction "is confined to whether the district court manifestly abused its discretion . . . under the *governing* preliminary injunction standards." *Mercer v. Mont. Dep't of Pub. Health & Hum. Servs.*, 2025 MT 9, ¶ 12, 420 Mont. 201, 562 P.3d 502 (emphasis added). The 2025 Amendment could not have been governing law at the time the district court entered the preliminary injunction more than four months before the Amendment took effect.

Second, no Montana law is retroactive "unless expressly so declared." § 1-2-109, MCA. And for good reason. The State's ask would call into question every preliminary injunction issued prior to March 25, 2025. When the preliminary injunction statute was amended in 2023, to set out the preliminary injunction factors as conjunctive rather than disjunctive, it contained no statement about retroactivity.

S.B. 191, 68th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Mont. 2023). And courts did not revisit every preliminary injunction issued prior to that change taking effect.

Like the 2023 change, the 2025 Amendment includes nothing to suggest it has retroactive effect. By contrast, when Montana lawmakers have made changes to laws governing injunctions retroactive, they have done so explicitly. For example, an amendment to § 27-19-103, MCA, regarding “when an injunction may not be granted,” expressly states that the changes apply “retroactively, within the meaning of 1-2-109, to all occurrences on or after January 1, 2021.” S.B. 135, 68th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Mont. 2023), codified at § 27-19-103, MCA.

The State’s attempt to escape this general rule that statutes operate prospectively by urging an exception when the “change in a law . . . is merely procedural rather than substantive” fails. Appellants’ Br. 13. As noted above, the Montana legislature understands the requirements of § 1-2-109, MCA, to apply to changes to statutes governing injunctions. And the legislature did not make the 2025 Amendment retroactive.

None of the authorities the State cites supports its argument that the 2025 Amendment applies here. The amended statute at issue in *State v. Daniels* was in effect *before* the alleged criminal offense took place and thus *before* the conviction from which the defendant appealed. 2011 MT 278, ¶¶ 5, 10 n.1, 362 Mont. 426, 265 P.3d 623. The issue in *Daniels* was about the extent to which the amended statute

abrogated prior caselaw—there was no question that the amended version of statute applied to the trial court’s rulings that the defendant later challenged on appeal. *See id.* ¶¶ 15, 41. *Dempsey v. Allstate Insurance Company* and *Utah v. Su* also do not apply: they involved the general rule that judicial decisions have retroactive effect absent certain exceptions. 2004 MT 391, ¶ 29, 325 Mont. 207, 104 P.3d 483; 109 F.4th 313, 319 (5th Cir. 2024). By contrast, statutes presumptively operate only prospectively. *See Landgraf v. USI Film Prods.*, 511 U.S. 244, 265 (1994). *City of Helena v. Community of Rimini* similarly arose in a different context. 2017 MT 145, 388 Mont. 1, 397 P.3d 1. There, the Court held that a water court properly applied an amended statute by relying on precedent governing the legal status of municipal water rights in Montana. *Id.* ¶¶ 18-19, 38.

For all these reasons, the 2025 Amendment has no application here. Even if it did, the district court entered its order consistent with the amended statute, finding the Providers established a “likelihood” on each of the four preliminary injunction factors.

**II. The District Court Correctly Held that the Providers Are Likely to Succeed on Their Claim that the Scheme Violates Their Patients’ Fundamental Rights.**

The State did not defend the Scheme at the district court under strict scrutiny and does not do so here. Instead, the State attempts to escape the straightforward

conclusion that the Scheme discriminates based on how patients exercise their fundamental rights and thus strict scrutiny applies.<sup>3</sup>

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